# UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Plaintiff,

v.

COMPLAINT Case No. 24-cv-4610

Walmart Inc. & Branch Messenger, Inc., Defendants.

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action against Walmart Inc. (Walmart) and Branch Messenger, Inc. (Branch) (together, the Defendants) for violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B); and against Branch for violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693c, 1693d, 1693e, 1693f, 1693*l*, its implementing Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1005; the Truth in Savings Act (TISA), 12 U.S.C. § 4302(e), its implementing Regulation DD, 12 C.F.R. § 1030.8; and the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).

# **INTRODUCTION**

1. Branch is a financial technology company that, since January 2020, has offered a product called the Branch Account, which includes a deposit account

at Evolve Bank & Trust (Evolve) that consumers access through a mobile application and debit card provided by Branch.

Since 2018, Walmart has operated a delivery program called Spark
 Driver, in which individual workers (Spark Drivers) perform "last mile" deliveries
 from Walmart stores nationwide.

3. In connection with the Walmart Spark Driver program, Defendants required Spark Drivers to receive their pay using Branch Accounts, a costly and risky product. Walmart told Spark Drivers they would be terminated from the Spark Driver program if they did not use a Branch Account.

4. Defendants opened Branch Accounts and deposited Spark Drivers' wages into those accounts without their informed consent, and in many instances, on an unauthorized basis, and then predicated Spark Drivers' access to their earnings on consent to Branch's terms and conditions. Defendants also made deceptive statements about Branch Accounts to Spark Drivers. Through their conduct, Defendants harmed consumers and engaged in unfair, abusive, and deceptive practices in violation of the CFPA.

5. Branch, in connection with offering or providing Branch Accounts to consumers, also violated TISA and its implementing Regulation DD, EFTA and its implementing Regulation E by making misrepresentations about Branch Accounts, including its capabilities for instant access to earnings or same-day pay, stop

payments, and transfers; requiring some consumers to waive their rights under EFTA; and failing to provide required disclosures and notices, honor stop payment requests, investigate and resolve alleged errors, and maintain necessary records. By violating TISA and its implementing Regulation DD, and EFTA and its implementing Regulation E, Branch also violated the CFPA.

# **JURISDICTION & VENUE**

6. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought under "federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.

7. The Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants in this action because each Defendant conducts business in this district. In addition, Branch is headquartered in Minnesota.

8. Venue is proper in this district because Branch and Walmart are located, reside, or do business here, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).

### **PARTIES**

 The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by the CFPA and charged with enforcing "Federal consumer financial laws." 12
 U.S.C. § 5491(a).

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 4 of 60

10. The Bureau is authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court in its own name and through its own attorneys to address violations of "Federal consumer financial law," including the CFPA, EFTA and its implementing Regulation E, and TISA and its implementing Regulation DD, and to secure appropriate relief for violations of those provisions. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5565, 5481(12)(C), (12)(P), (14).

 Branch is a financial technology company headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

12. Walmart is a multinational retailer headquartered in Bentonville, Arkansas.

# FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

### **The Spark Driver Program**

13. In 2018, Walmart established the Walmart Spark Driver program, in which Spark Drivers fulfill deliveries for Walmart customers by delivering orders from Walmart stores to customers.

14. The typical Spark Driver is a woman, has children, does not have a college degree, and is low income.

15. Spark Drivers commonly use wages earned from the Spark Driver program for personal, household, and family expenses, such as groceries, housing, household utilities, transportation costs, childcare, educational expenses, and

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 5 of 60

paying down personal debt. During the period when Defendants required Spark Drivers to access their earnings through a Branch Account, Spark Drivers' top use of the associated Branch debit card was for groceries.

16. Wanting to quickly grow its business in the booming delivery market, in 2018 Walmart engaged Delivery Drivers, Inc., a third-party administrator (Administrator or Walmart's Administrator), to work directly with Spark Drivers on its behalf by recruiting and onboarding the drivers and processing their compensation. Walmart's Administrator performed these functions on behalf of Walmart until August 17, 2022, when Walmart purchased substantially all of its assets and hired the vast majority of its employees. Throughout its relationship with its Administrator, Walmart authorized the Administrator to act on its behalf, and held the Administrator out to Spark Drivers as having the authority to act on its behalf, with respect to the hiring, onboarding, and payment of Spark Drivers.

17. Walmart had knowledge of, and the authority to control, its Administrator's conduct with respect to the payment of Spark Drivers.

18. Walmart retained the right to reject or approve its Administrator's use of any additional vendors for its work on the Spark Driver program and dictated the number of Spark Drivers to be hired into the program and the screening standards to be applied during hiring.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 6 of 60

19. Walmart retained the right to control the payments its Administrator made to Spark Drivers, whether on its own or on behalf of Walmart.

20. Walmart closely monitored and directed its Administrator's performance, including through daily conversations and instructions, and in monthly and quarterly audits and reviews.

21. In the Administrator's advertisements for the Spark Driver program and in application and onboarding materials, the Administrator used Walmart's name and branding with Walmart's knowledge and consent.

22. Spark Drivers often directed questions regarding payments, taxes, and insurance related to the Spark Driver program to both Walmart and its Administrator interchangeably, and Walmart expected its Administrator to interact with Spark Drivers on those topics.

### Walmart and its Administrator Engage Branch

23. From 2018 until August 2021, Walmart paid Spark Drivers weekly through direct deposit. Walmart would transmit Spark Driver payments to the Administrator, who then disbursed the payments into accounts selected by the drivers themselves.

24. As early as 2020, other last-mile delivery programs were offering drivers the option of receiving their earnings on a daily basis. By 2021, most of

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 7 of 60

Walmart's competitors were offering some type of instant pay, allowing workers to obtain pay after every job performed.

25. In June 2021, Walmart's Administrator contracted with Branch in the hopes that processing wage payments through Branch Accounts would enable the Administrator to streamline costs, grow the Spark Driver program faster, and advertise the possibility of same-day pay.

26. Branch and Walmart's Administrator agreed that Branch would be the exclusive payment provider for the Spark Driver program.

27. Walmart knew about its Administrator's agreement with Branch and did not raise any objection to it.

28. Walmart and its Administrator were primarily responsible for communications and advertisements to Spark Drivers regarding the introduction of Branch Accounts to Spark Drivers. Branch reviewed Walmart's Administrator's communications to Spark Drivers advertising Branch.

29. Branch does not offer accounts directly to consumers; rather, it engages partners, like Walmart, that hire and pay workers, to offer Branch to their workers, and assist with enrolling their workers in Branch Accounts.

30. Consumers access their Branch Accounts solely by using Branch's mobile application or debit card.

31. Branch is not FDIC insured.

## **Defendants' Account Opening Process**

32. Defendants designed and implemented an account-opening process specific to the Spark Driver program that enabled them to open and fund Branch Accounts for Spark Drivers without their informed consent, and in many instances, on an unauthorized basis. Spark Drivers did not understand the terms and conditions of the Branch Account—or even what type of account they were being provided. In order to obtain access to their account and their Spark Driver earnings, consumers were forced to accept the terms of the Branch Account.

33. Defendants launched this account opening process in or around July2021.

34. By July 2021, the Spark Driver program had tens of thousands of Spark Drivers (Existing Drivers).

35. In late July 2021, Walmart and its Administrator began communicating to Existing Drivers that they would be required to use a Branch Account to be paid, and that beginning August 10, 2021, wages would be made available only in Branch Accounts, rather than through a deposit to an account of the driver's choice.

36. At some point before August 10, 2021, without the Existing Drivers' knowledge and without obtaining their consent, Defendants opened unauthorized Branch Accounts for most Existing Drivers. Walmart and its Administrator already

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 9 of 60

possessed drivers' personal information, which included social security numbers. They shared this sensitive personal information with Branch, also without Existing Drivers' knowledge or consent to share. Once Branch received the personal information, it would in turn use that information to open Branch Accounts capable of receiving electronic fund transfers for each driver, without the driver's knowledge or consent. For Existing Drivers to become aware of, and to access their Branch Accounts and earnings, several additional steps had to occur.

37. First, on or before August 10, 2021, Walmart's Administrator sent communications to Existing Drivers alerting them that they needed to "sign up" for Branch and directed them to click what the Defendants referred to as a "magic link" to "claim" their account.

38. Upon clicking the "magic link," the Existing Driver downloaded Branch's mobile application, and then proceeded through Branch's access process. During the access process, the Existing Driver confirmed the personal information that Walmart and its Administrator already had shared with Branch, was offered the opportunity to view terms and conditions, and then had to check a box agreeing to the Branch terms and conditions.

39. At no point before this were Existing Drivers presented with Branch's terms and conditions.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 10 of 60

40. Once the Existing Driver agreed to the terms and conditions, Branch conducted an identity verification process known as Know Your Customer, and if the driver was approved, Branch granted them access to their already-opened (and sometimes already-funded) Branch Account.

41. On or around August 10, 2021, Walmart and its Administrator made deposits into tens of thousands of Existing Drivers' unauthorized Branch Accounts. By this point, many Existing Drivers were not aware that accounts had been opened for them using their personal information, and thousands of Existing Drivers had not yet completed the process to access their accounts, which now contained their earnings. These drivers had to complete Branch's access process and "agree" to Branch's terms and conditions to gain access to wages they had already earned.

42. Spark Drivers who joined the program just before or after the August 10, 2021 pay day (New Drivers) experienced the account opening process in a similar way. Over the next two years, Defendants would open over a million Branch Accounts for New Drivers using this process.

43. Walmart and its Administrator gathered New Drivers' personal information, including their social security numbers, as part of the Spark Driver application process and sent it to Branch. Branch, in turn, would open Branch Accounts, into which Walmart and its Administrator deposited earnings.

44. Then, generally on or after their first pay day, the New Drivers would receive a communication with the "magic link" from Walmart or its Administrator and be required to download the Branch application, agree to Branch's terms and conditions, and obtain approval through the Know Your Customer process to access their already-open account and their earnings.

45. Like with accounts for Existing Drivers, Walmart and its Administrator did not obtain New Drivers' consent to share their personal information with Branch, or to open or fund accounts for them at Branch.

46. From June 2021 until at some point in 2022, Walmart and its Administrator did not disclose the requirement to use Branch—or any information about Branch or the Branch Account—to applicants for the Spark Driver program during the Spark Driver online application process. At the same time, Defendants were opening Branch Accounts for them.

47. At some point in 2022, Walmart added limited information about the Branch product to the online application. After that point, New Drivers encountered a screen in the online application where they were required to "agree" to be paid through Branch in order to proceed with the application.

48. Neither this screen nor any other part of the application included Branch's terms and conditions, or basic information about the Branch Account,

such as fees, withdrawal limits, limitations on use, the type of account, or other terms.

49. From July 2021 until it acquired its Administrator's assets, Walmart provided earnings to Spark Drivers' Branch Accounts by sending payments to its Administrator, which the Administrator then deposited into the drivers' Branch Accounts, as it had previously done with direct deposit. Upon acquiring its Administrator's assets, Walmart deposited Spark Drivers' earnings to their Branch Accounts directly.

50. Walmart and Branch maintained the same account opening process described in Paragraphs 36–45 after Walmart acquired its Administrator's assets, until approximately February 2023, when Walmart added links to Branch Account terms and conditions in the Spark Driver application.

51. Until approximately August 2023, Walmart continued to share,without authorization, every New Driver's personal information with Branch.Branch would then open a Branch Account for each New Driver.

# Defendants' Account Opening Process Confused and Harmed Walmart Spark Drivers

52. The Defendants' account opening and funding process was confusing and harmful to Spark Drivers.

53. Spark Drivers did not understand why they were being required to use Branch, and why accounts had been opened in their name without their consent.

54. Once Spark Drivers learned that Branch Accounts had been opened for them and their earnings deposited into those accounts, they often approached Walmart, Walmart's Administrator, or Branch to ask whether they could return to direct deposit or choose not to use Branch. All three communicated clearly that neither was an option.

55. Walmart and its Administrator further told Spark Drivers that they would be terminated from the Spark Driver program if they would not or could not receive their earnings through Branch.

56. Walmart removed Spark Drivers from the Spark Driver program if they were unable to or would not use a Branch Account, making them ineligible to drive and earn income. When Walmart or its Administrator had already deposited Spark Driver earnings to those Branch Accounts, Branch transferred the earnings back to Walmart or its Administrator, rather than to the Spark Driver directly.

57. Some Spark Drivers were distraught that they were losing their jobs because they were not able to use Branch. Others were confused by the multi-step process necessary to access the Branch Accounts and were concerned about Defendants' use of their personal information to set up the accounts.

58. Spark Drivers also did not understand how the accounts operated, including the terms of the account, such as fees and transfer capabilities and limitations.

59. Many Spark Drivers wanted to continue receiving their earnings in an account of their choice, and faced challenges and costs when attempting to transfer their earnings into those accounts.

60. Not only did Spark Drivers find Defendants' account opening process confusing and costly, but the process caused delays in Spark Drivers' access to their Branch Accounts and their earnings.

61. There were often significant—sometimes weekslong—delays between when accounts were opened and when Spark Drivers gained access to the accounts.

62. When a Spark Driver's earnings were deposited into a Branch Account before a Spark Driver had access to it, the delay in account access also meant a delay in pay.

63. Between approximately July 2021 through August 2023, Walmart and its Administrator deposited, and Branch accepted, tens of millions of dollars in Spark Driver wages into over 100,000 Branch Accounts before Spark Drivers gained access to them, often weeks later.

64. Spark Drivers could only obtain their money that was already deposited into a Branch Account by going through Branch's access process, which

forced them to agree to Branch's terms and conditions. Spark Drivers who would not or could not complete Branch's access process were terminated from the Spark Driver program.

65. Spark Drivers often contacted Walmart's Administrator to say that they had not been paid. The Administrator would respond by telling Spark Drivers that they needed to accept Branch's terms and access their Branch account in order to obtain their earnings.

66. Walmart and its Administrator also deposited hundreds of thousands of dollars into thousands of accounts to which Spark Drivers never gained access. As of May 2024, wages still remained in some of these accounts. For others, Branch remitted wages back to Walmart or its Administrator, often after weeks passed with the funds sitting in the accounts without being accessed.

67. Branch sometimes closed Branch Accounts belonging to Spark Drivers, resulting in those drivers being terminated from the Spark Driver program. In such cases, Branch also remitted any funds remaining in the now-closed account back to Walmart or its Administrator, as opposed to the Spark Driver to whom the funds belonged.

68. Walmart, Walmart's Administrator, and Branch also created over 600,000 Branch Accounts for Spark Drivers to which Spark Drivers never gained access, and that appear to have had no activity.

69. Spark Drivers who did gain access to the Branch Accounts faced costs or other inconveniences associated with receiving their wages in a Branch Account and using their wages as they intended, including for personal, household, and family purposes.

70. Spark Drivers who received wages through a Branch Account but did not want to keep their money in it were presented with two options.

- a. <u>Option 1</u>: Spark Drivers could pay a fee of either 2 percent of the transferred amount or \$2.99, whichever was greater, for an "instant" transfer. For example, a Spark Driver who made \$500 per week would pay \$10 to Branch every week to transfer their earnings to an account of their choice. In order to accomplish this "instant" transfer, a Spark Driver had to provide Branch with a debit card associated with the account that would receive the transfer. Spark Drivers chose this more frequently than Option 2, as many drivers needed, and had been promised, quick access to their already-deposited compensation. During the period that Defendants required Branch Accounts, Spark Drivers paid over \$10 million to Branch in fees to instantly transfer hundreds of millions of dollars to an account of their choice.
- b. <u>Option 2</u>: Spark Drivers could link their Branch Account to a separate financial data transfer company that could be used to initiate an ACH

transfer of their funds to an external account of their choosing. Option 2 did not have a fee, but could take up to 5 days, was available only if the receiving account was at a bank partnered with the separate financial data transfer company, and required the Spark Driver to provide personal information and sensitive banking information to the financial data transfer company. Many Spark Drivers did not want to or could not wait additional time after their pay day to use their wages from an account of their choice, and did not want to share information with yet another financial institution, especially after learning their personal information already had been shared and used without their consent.

71. Aside from Options 1 and 2, it was possible for Branch accountholders to use an account at another financial institution to initiate an ACH transfer from the Branch Account without a fee, a process that could take up to 5 days. Branch did not publicize this capability to Spark Drivers and few, if any, Spark Drivers appeared to be aware of it.

72. For either Option 1 or 2, Branch also imposed daily and monthly limits on how much money Spark Drivers could transfer out of their accounts.

73. Spark Drivers also could use a Branch "virtual debit card" to make online purchases or order a physical debit card to make online or point-of-sale purchases or withdraw cash, but only up to certain daily and monthly limits.

74. Spark Drivers reported delays in receiving their physical debit cards, preventing them from withdrawing cash.

75. Further, since June 2022, Branch has charged its accountholders a \$2 fee for each cash withdrawal from somewhere other than one of its "in network" ATMs, which are generally located in retail stores. Spark Drivers had difficulty accessing "in network" ATMs, particularly when they needed to withdraw money after the retail stores had closed for the day.

76. Branch accountholders, including Spark Drivers, could not write checks from their Branch Accounts.

77. Branch accountholders, including Spark Drivers, could not make their own deposits to Branch Accounts without paying fees.

78. Branch accountholders, including Spark Drivers, who wanted to deposit a check to their Branch Account had to download a separate mobile application that partnered with Branch in order to do so, and pay a fee to that mobile application. Branch does not disclose this fee to accountholders.

79. Branch accountholders, including Spark Drivers, who wanted to deposit cash to their Branch Account had to visit certain specified retail locations

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 19 of 60

in order to do so, and pay a fee to a third party. Branch does not disclose the amount of this fee to accountholders.

80. Many Spark Drivers indicated that the transition to Branch caused personal financial challenges. For example, because Branch Accounts do not have check-writing capability, Spark Drivers had to transfer their earnings out of their accounts in order to write a check, which caused some Drivers to be late on payments such as rent. For other Spark Drivers, the daily withdrawal and transfer limits meant that they couldn't access their earnings when they needed them.

81. Whether they decided to transfer their wages or keep them in a Branch Account, Spark Drivers faced barriers at every turn; for example, when one Spark Driver had housing payments due, which could not be paid by debit card, the driver found that Branch's limits on ATM withdrawals prevented her from withdrawing enough cash to pay those bills on time, and the alternatives of transferring money from Branch into another account were also unworkable because they required the driver to pay fees to access her money, or wait longer for a transfer that did not charge fees.

82. Defendants' requirement that Spark Drivers be paid through Branch Accounts also harmed Spark Drivers by placing their wages in a financial institution which caused or risked loss of funds or failed to address consumer complaints and disputes. For example, Branch did not respond in a timely manner,

and sometimes did not respond at all, to consumers who needed assistance from Branch customer service, including for potential fraud on their account. Branch's failures to comply with EFTA and Regulation E also made the accounts riskier for consumers.

# **Branch's Attempts to Deprive Consumers of Their Rights**

83. Defendants' account opening and funding process not only coerced Spark Drivers into using Branch, but it also allowed Branch to improperly label most accounts opened for Spark Drivers as so-called "business" accounts, without Spark Drivers' knowledge.

84. Since 2021, Branch has labeled its Branch Accounts as "business" or "consumer."

85. In order to determine which label to use, Branch depends solely on one piece of information provided by its partner enrolling workers into Branch Accounts. If Branch's partner, such as Walmart, classifies its workers as independent contractors for tax purposes, Branch will label those Branch Accounts as "business" accounts. If Branch's partner classifies its workers as employees for tax purposes, Branch uses the "consumer" account label.

86. Branch does not give its accountholders the opportunity to select which account label is applied to their Branch Account, or inform accountholders which labels exist and what the differences are.

87. Walmart and its Administrator classified Spark Drivers as independent contractors for tax purposes, so Branch typically labeled the accounts as "business" accounts, and included "business" account terms and conditions at the end of Spark Drivers' Branch access process.

88. The terms and conditions for the "business"-labeled account state that accountholders are prohibited from using their accounts for personal, family, or household purposes, and that they are not entitled to the protections of EFTA and other federal consumer financial law.

89. When assigning a "business" label to any Branch Account, Branch does not seek input from individual accountholders as to how they intend to use the account, or review any subsequent information as to how the accountholder does in fact use the account. Nor does Branch confirm whether the individual accountholders whose funds are placed in "business"-labeled accounts are in fact businesses, or perform a Know Your Business review before opening "business"-labeled accounts.

90. Branch performs the same onboarding process for all Branch Accounts, including those provided to Spark Drivers, relying on the same personal consumer information—including consumers' names and social security numbers—to open the Branch Account.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 22 of 60

91. Branch takes no further action, before or after account opening, to determine whether the "business" or "consumer" label is appropriate for those Branch Accounts, including for Spark Drivers.

92. Regardless of whether Branch applies the "business" or "consumer" label, the Branch Account operates almost exactly the same, with some differences in the amounts accountholders can transfer and the fees applicable to the account. For example, both versions of the account have a fee for an "instant" transfer from the Branch Account to an external account. For this service, an accountholder assigned a "business"-labeled account would pay a 20 percent higher instant transfer fee on a \$300 transfer than a "consumer"-labeled account would pay on that same transfer. Interchange rates, the fee that banks charge merchants when a consumer makes a purchase using a debit card, are generally higher per transaction for business accounts.

93. Branch accountholders use their accounts the same way regardless of the "business" or "consumer" label—after earnings are deposited, consumers use these accounts to purchase items for personal, household, and family use.

94. For example, during the period when Defendants required Spark Drivers to access their earnings through a Branch Account, Spark Drivers' top use of the Branch debit card was for groceries, and other common uses were for pharmacy and clothing store purchases.

95. Branch applies a single set of compliance policies and procedures regardless of whether an account is labeled "consumer" or "business," notwithstanding that different obligations would apply if Branch were truly offering accounts for business purposes and not for personal, household, or family purposes.

# Defendants' Misrepresentations About Instant Access to Wages and Same-Day Pay

96. Defendants communicated to Spark Drivers that their new requirement that Spark Drivers receive earnings through Branch Accounts would enable Spark Drivers to be paid instantly or daily, something many drivers wanted. On or around July 22, 2021, Walmart's Administrator sent an email to Spark Drivers, telling them that Branch was a "new payment platform for same-day pay," and a "free digital wallet that gives you INSTANT ACCESS to the money you earned."

97. In an August 12, 2021, press release announcing its partnership with Branch, Walmart's Administrator stated that Branch would provide "instant access to payouts" and have the ability to "receive payments on weekends."

98. Walmart's Administrator repeatedly told Spark Drivers that same-day pay would be available in September 2021, and when that date passed, that sameday pay would soon be available.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 24 of 60

99. Walmart disseminated similar messaging to its associates responsible for communicating with Spark Drivers. Initially, Walmart told Spark Drivers that same-day pay would be coming September 2021. And scripts for Walmart associates directed them to tell Spark Drivers: "Using [Branch] allows us to give you access to your earnings must faster – soon, you'll have access to your earnings on a daily basis . . . ."

100. Branch announced that "all" Spark Driver payouts would be made available via their mobile application and that "opting out is not an option at this time," but "we'll soon be processing payments on a daily basis, allowing you to get your money faster, instead of waiting for 'payday."

101. Branch further told Spark Drivers that same-day pay through Branch would be available in September 2021, and when that date passed, that same-day pay would be offered "very soon" or in early 2022.

102. Spark Drivers' communications to Walmart, Walmart's Administrator, and Branch indicate that Spark Drivers believed that Defendants would offer same-day pay through Branch Accounts, and they continued to ask Walmart, Walmart's Administrator, and Branch about the timeline for this capability and expressed frustration when it continued to be unavailable. Spark Drivers told Walmart that they would continue to drive for the Spark Driver program, and increase their participation, if Walmart offered instant or same-day

pay. Some drivers thought that same-day pay had already been implemented, and contacted Walmart to ask how to use it. Branch and Walmart continued to tell drivers that same-day pay would be made available. For example, as late as March 2022, a Spark Driver who contacted Walmart and asked about same-day pay was told that the capability was still in the works.

103. Walmart's Administrator told Spark Drivers at least through June2022 that Branch would offer same-day pay.

104. Spark Drivers have never received same-day pay through the Branch Account.

# Branch's False and Misleading Statements About Account Transfer Capabilities

105. Branch represents to consumers that consumers can, using the Branch mobile application, transfer funds for free to any other account.

106. But the transfer options available in the Branch application do not allow consumers to transfer to any bank account for free; rather, consumers must either pay a fee to transfer funds to another debit card (Option 1), or connect their Branch Account to a third party, which facilitates a free ACH transfer to only certain financial institutions that partner with that third party (Option 2).

107. Some consumers learned that they could not use the Branch application to transfer money to a bank account of their choice only after attempting to make a transfer and failing to do so.

# Branch's Inadequate Disclosures, Notices, and Error Resolution, and Misrepresentations about Stop Payments

108. EFTA and its implementing Regulation E establish substantive rights and protections for consumers who use electronic fund transfer services and the liabilities and responsibilities of financial institutions or other persons who offer these services.

## **Branch's Deficient Error Resolution Practices**

109. Financial institutions that provide accounts as defined under Regulation E have to conduct a timely and reasonable investigation into consumers' Notices of Error, as defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(b)(1).

110. Until April 2022, Branch did not have policies and procedures for handling Notices of Error or a mechanism for tracking Notices of Error or Error investigations. When Branch did establish policies and procedures specific to Notices or Error and Error investigations, those policies and procedures were deficient.

111. From January 2020 to the present, Branch has failed to promptly initiate or conduct Error investigations in numerous ways.

112. For example, if the consumer alleged a transfer was unauthorized due to theft or fraud and the merchant provided documentation that matched the accountholder's name and address, Branch would automatically decline the consumer's Notice of Error without further investigation.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 27 of 60

113. For Notices of Error regarding ACH transactions, from January 2020 through April 2022, Branch customer service representatives summarily rejected all Notices of Error and failed to conduct any Error investigations.

114. Since April 2022, Branch has conditioned initiating Error investigations into Notices of Error concerning ACH transactions on a consumer submitting a written statement of unauthorized electronic fund transfer.

115. For Notices of Error regarding debit card transactions, since January 2020, Branch has not initiated or conducted an Error investigation. Instead, Branch sends all of these Notices of Error to a third-party service provider (Chargeback Processor) which conducts a process through the debit card network that can return a consumer's charge to their card (chargeback).

116. The chargeback process is distinct from a financial institution's obligations under Regulation E. The Chargeback Processor's chargeback process is not designed to ensure compliance with Regulation E.

117. In instances where the Chargeback Processor determined that a consumers' chargeback was not successful, Branch took no further action with respect to the consumer's Notice of Error.

118. Using the chargeback process in these circumstances did not constitute a reasonable investigation as required by Regulation E. By relying on the chargeback process, Branch failed to conduct investigations entirely.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 28 of 60

119. As a result of these practices, Branch failed to conduct reasonable Error investigations for thousands of consumers.

- 120. Branch also did not meet required timeframes for its Error resolution:
  - a. For numerous Errors that Branch did not resolve within 10 days of receipt of the Notice of Error, Branch did not provide provisional credit within that period;
  - b. For numerous Errors concerning debit card transactions, Branch did not determine whether an Error occurred within 90 business days of receipt of the Notice of Error; and
  - c. For numerous Errors, Branch did not report the results of its Error investigation to the consumer within 3 business days of determining whether an Error occurred.

# **Branch's Failures to Provide Stop Payment**

121. Under EFTA and Regulation E, financial institutions must provide consumers with the ability to stop payment of a preauthorized electronic fund transfer under certain circumstances.

122. Since January 2020, as a matter of policy, Branch has not provided consumers with the ability to stop payment of preauthorized electronic fund transfers and Branch does not track when consumers made requests to stop payment.

123. On numerous occasions, consumers notified Branch that they wanted to stop payment of a preauthorized electronic fund transfer at least 3 business days before the scheduled date of the transfer, but Branch did not effectuate the stop payment request.

124. Though Branch had no mechanism for effectuating a stop payment,Branch told consumers otherwise, stating in its initial disclosures for its"consumer"-labeled accounts that the consumer had a right to stop payment.

# **Branch's Deficient Disclosures & Notices**

125. Under EFTA and Regulation E, financial institutions also must timely provide certain disclosures and notices regarding accounts, and those disclosures and notices must contain certain information.

126. Since 2020, initial disclosures for all Branch Accounts have misstated consumers' liability for unauthorized transfers.

127. Initial disclosures for Branch "business"-labeled accounts falsely state that consumers "will not have the benefit of any consumer law limiting liability with respect to the unauthorized use of a Card or a Business Account" and they fail to state consumers' stop payment rights.

128. Initial disclosures for Branch "consumer"-labeled accounts improperly describe consumers' liability for unauthorized transactions, stating, for example that "[t]he use of any of your Credentials by another person will be as

effective as your use of the Credentials, regardless of whether the person affixing the Credential was authorized by you and regardless of the means by which the Credential was affixed."

129. Since 2020, Branch has not timely provided initial disclosures—initial disclosures have been provided after the first electronic fund transfer involving the account and after the consumer had contracted for an electronic fund transfer service.

130. During this period, Branch has opened Branch Accounts capable of receiving electronic fund transfers, and often accepted deposits into those accounts, before providing consumers with the initial disclosures for the account.

131. During this period, Branch has relied on its partners to identify the consumers who should receive their earnings through a Branch Account. Branch's partners often identify these consumers by sharing with Branch personal information for each worker. Branch then opens Branch Accounts after receiving this information—without having provided consumers with initial disclosures. It does not provide initial disclosures until after the consumer completes Branch's access process.

132. Branch further permits partners, including Walmart, to initiate electronic fund transfers to consumers' accounts before consumers have gained access to those accounts and received Branch's initial disclosures.

133. Since 2020, Branch accountholders have received periodic statements and error resolution notices within those statements that do not comply with EFTA and Regulation E.

134. Branch's periodic statements provided to all consumers were not compliant with EFTA and Regulation E, because they did not include (i) the type of transfer and type of account to or from which funds were transferred; (ii) the terminal location, for transfers initiated by the consumer at an electronic terminal; and (iii) the amount of fees assessed against the account.

135. The periodic statements also do not include correct information explaining how to submit a Notice of Error.

136. Branch's periodic statement language reads, "To report an unauthorized transaction or other error concerning your debit card, direct inquiries to: call 833-994-0430, or email us at cardsupport@branchapp.com." But the consumer's right to make such inquiries applies to all types of Errors and are not limited to those involving debit cards.

137. Since January 2020, Branch has failed to provide Error resolution notices that informed consumers of the types of Errors they can allege and did not inform consumers that they could contact Branch if they thought their statement was incorrect or if they need more information about a transfer listed on a statement or receipt.

# **Branch's Poor Recordkeeping Practices**

138. Regulation E requires financial institutions to "retain evidence of compliance with the requirements imposed by" EFTA. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.13(b)(1).

139. Between at least January 2020 and April 2023, Branch's records pertaining to Errors and Notices of Error were often incomplete, missing, or failed to track complete information.

### THE FEDERAL CONSUMER FINANCIAL LAWS

### The CFPA

140. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit a "covered person" or "service provider" from committing or engaging in any "unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice" in connection with "any transaction with a consumer for a consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a consumer financial product or service." 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).

141. Section 1036 of the CFPA makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a covered person or service provider engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices; the provider of substantial assistance is deemed in violation of the law to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).

142. The CFPA defines "consumer" to mean "an individual or an agent, trustee, or representative acting on behalf of an individual." 12 U.S.C. § 5481(4).

143. The CFPA defines "covered person" to mean "any person that engages in offering or providing a consumer financial product or service." 12U.S.C. § 5481(6).

144. The CFPA defines "service provider" to mean "any person that provides a material service to a covered person in connection with the offering or provision by such covered person of a consumer financial product or service, including a person that (i) participates in designing, operating, or maintaining the consumer financial product or service; or (ii) processes transactions relating to the consumer financial product or service . . . ." 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).

145. The CFPA defines "consumer financial product or service" to include "engaging in deposit-taking activities, transmitting or exchanging funds, or otherwise acting as a custodian of funds or any financial instrument for use by or on behalf of a consumer"; "selling, providing, or issuing stored value or payment instruments"; and "providing payments or other financial data processing products or services to a consumer by any technological means" where those products or services are "offered or provided for use by consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes." 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(iv), (v), (vii).

146. Spark Drivers are individuals and are thus "consumers" under the CFPA.

147. Branch engages in offering or providing Branch Accounts, which involves deposit-taking activities, transmitting or exchanging funds, or otherwise acting as a custodian of funds or any financial instrument for use by or on behalf of a consumer; providing or issuing stored value or payment instruments; or providing payments or other financial data processing products or services to a consumer; thus Branch is a "covered person" under the CFPA.

148. Branch Accounts are a financial product or service offered or provided for use by consumers, including Spark Drivers, primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, including groceries, housing, household utilities, transportation costs, childcare, and paying down personal debt.

149. Walmart and its Administrator provided a material service to Branch in connection with Branch's offering or provision of Branch Accounts by providing Branch with over a million new accountholders—Spark Drivers—who they required to use Branch Accounts in order to receive earnings and continue working for the Spark Driver program. Walmart and its Administrator participated in the designing of Branch's account-opening process for Spark Drivers, obtained Spark Drivers' personal information and then provided Branch with that information with the instruction to use it to open Branch Accounts for the Spark Drivers. Walmart and its Administrator then maintained responsibility for providing Spark Drivers with the only means of accessing Branch Accounts—the "magic link." Walmart and its Administrator are thus "service providers" under the CFPA.

# **TISA and Regulation DD**

150. The Bureau is authorized to enforce TISA under subtitle E of the CFPA with respect to any person subject to TISA. 12 U.S.C. § 4309(a), (a)(3).

151. Under TISA and its implementing Regulation DD, Branch is a "deposit broker," 12 U.S.C. § 4313(5), 12 C.F.R. § 1030.2(k), and a "person who advertises an account offered by a depository institution[.]" 12 C.F.R. § 1030.1(c).

152. Under TISA, persons who advertise an account offered by a depository institution and deposit brokers are prohibited from making advertisements that are misleading or inaccurate or misrepresent a depository institution's contract. 12 U.S.C. § 4302(e); 12 C.F.R. §§ 1030.1(c), 1030.8(a)(1).

# **EFTA and Regulation E**

153. The Bureau is authorized to enforce EFTA with respect to any financial institution subject to EFTA. 15 U.S.C. § 1693o(a)(5).

154. Under EFTA and Regulation E, "financial institutions" are liable for their failure to comply with their stop payment, error resolution, disclosure, and notice obligations for the "accounts" of "consumers." 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693c, 1693d, 1693e, 1693f; 12 C.F.R. §§ 1005.7-1005.11. Regulation E further requires a "person" subject to EFTA to "retain evidence of compliance with" EFTA. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.13(b)(1). And EFTA prohibits any "person" from entering into a written agreement with a "consumer" that contains a "provision which constitutes a waiver of any right conferred or cause of action created by" EFTA. 15 U.S.C. § 1693*1*.

155. EFTA defines "financial institution" to include a "person who, directly or indirectly, holds an account belonging to a consumer," 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(9) and Regulation E defines "financial institution" to include a "person that directly or indirectly holds an account belonging to a consumer, or that issues an access device and agrees with a consumer to provide electronic fund transfer services," 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(i).

156. Regulation E defines "person" to mean "a natural person or an organization, including a corporation, government agency, estate, trust, partnership, proprietorship, cooperative, or association." 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(j).

157. Branch is responsible for developing and managing almost all aspects of the Branch Account, including the account application process, Know Your Customer review, payment processing, supervising and managing the flow of funds in accounts, the Branch mobile application, the provision of disclosures and notices, and all customer service functions, including dispute and error resolution. Branch also provides consumers with and services the only means of accessing the accounts—Branch's own mobile application and the physical debit card.

158. Branch is a "financial institution" as defined under EFTA and Regulation E both because it (1) issues an access device to Branch Accounts through its mobile application and the associated access credentials, or through its debit card, and agrees with consumers to provide electronic fund transfer services and (2) it "indirectly holds" the Evolve deposit accounts that are a part of Branch Accounts and belong to consumers. Branch also meets the definition of a "person" under Regulation E.

159. EFTA and Regulation E define "consumer" to mean "a natural person." 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(6); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(e).

160. Accountholders of Branch Accounts, including Spark Drivers, are natural persons and thus are "consumers" under EFTA and Regulation E.

161. EFTA defines "account" to mean "a demand deposit, savings deposit, or other asset account . . . , as described in regulations of the Bureau, established primarily for personal, family, or household purposes," 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(2), and Regulation E defines "account" to mean "a demand deposit (checking), savings, or other consumer asset account . . . held directly or indirectly by a financial institution and established primarily for personal, family, or household purposes," 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(b)(1).

162. A Branch Account includes an Evolve deposit account, which is "a demand deposit (checking), savings, or other consumer asset account . . . held directly or indirectly by a financial institution."

163. Branch Accounts opened since January 2020, including but not limited to Branch Accounts established for Spark Drivers, have been established primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.

164. Branch Accounts opened since January 2020, including but not limited to Branch Accounts established for Spark Drivers, are "accounts" within the meaning of EFTA and Regulation E.

165. The Bureau therefore may enforce EFTA and Regulation E with respect to Branch and Branch Accounts.

#### **DEFENDANTS' VIOLATIONS OF LAW**

### COUNT I: ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE <u>CFPA</u>

#### (Against Defendants)

#### Defendants materially interfered with the ability of Spark Drivers to understand the terms and conditions of their Branch Accounts.

166. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc. 1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 39 of 60

167. An act or practice is abusive under the CFPA if it, among other things, "materially interferes with the ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product or service." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(1).

168. From approximately June 2021 through approximately February 2023,Branch opened, and often accepted deposits into, Branch Accounts before SparkDrivers understood the terms and conditions of their Branch Accounts.

169. Before February 2023, Branch did not present information sufficient for Spark Drivers to understand the terms and conditions of Branch Accounts before it opened accounts on their behalf and stored earnings for them in those accounts.

170. From approximately June 2021 through approximately February 2023, Walmart did not present information sufficient for Spark Drivers to understand the terms and conditions of Branch Accounts before it shared Spark Drivers' personal information with Branch, instructed Branch to open Branch Accounts on behalf of those drivers, and sometimes deposited Spark Driver earnings into these accounts.

171. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2022, Walmart engaged in these acts or practices directly or through the acts of its Administrator, who was Walmart's agent. From approximately August 2022 through February 2023, Walmart directly engaged in the above acts or practices.

172. Walmart also substantially assisted in Branch's material interference because it knew about, or recklessly disregarded, that conduct and substantially assisted in it.

173. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2022, Walmart either provided this substantial assistance directly or through the acts of its Administrator, who was Walmart's agent. From approximately August 2022 through February 2023, Walmart provided this substantial assistance directly.

174. Through these acts or practices, Defendants interfered with the ability of Spark Drivers to understand the terms and conditions of their Branch Accounts.

175. Defendants' interference was material because the natural consequence of failing to disclose account terms and conditions is to impede consumers' understanding of the account, including that the account charged fees and included limitations on transactions and transfers. Their interference was also material because it did, in fact, impede consumers' understanding of the Branch Account.

176. As a result, Defendants engaged in abusive acts or practices, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), (d)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B), (a)(3).

#### <u>COUNT II: ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE</u> <u>CFPA</u>

#### (Against Defendants)

#### Defendants took unreasonable advantage of Spark Drivers' inability to protect their interests in selecting and using Branch Accounts.

177. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

178. An act or practice is abusive under the CFPA if it, among other things, "takes unreasonable advantage of . . . the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B).

179. From approximately June 2021 through August 2023, Defendants took unreasonable advantage of Spark Drivers' inability to protect their interests in selecting and using Branch Accounts.

180. Spark Drivers were not able to protect their interests in, for example, being able to choose when or whether to open a deposit account and when to share their personal information, being able to choose when to agree to a certain financial product, accessing their own earnings in a timely manner, and receiving their funds into accounts of their choosing that do not come with fees and other limitations.

181. Spark Drivers were not able to protect these interests because of the harmful account opening and funding practices Defendants designed and imposed on Spark Drivers.

182. Branch took unreasonable advantage of Spark Drivers' inability to protect the above interests. Branch increased its customer base beyond what it would have been able to obtain had it not opened accounts for consumers without their consent, and predicated consumers' access to their funds on their agreement to Branch Account terms and conditions. With this increased customer base, Branch earned additional revenue.

183. Walmart took unreasonable advantage of Spark Drivers' inability to protect the above interests. Walmart was able to reduce the costs of paying its Spark Drivers, and scale the Spark Driver program more quickly.

184. Walmart also substantially assisted in Branch's taking unreasonable advantage of Spark Drivers' inability to protect their interests in selecting and using Branch Accounts because it knew about, or recklessly disregarded, that conduct and substantially assisted in it.

185. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2022, Walmart either provided this substantial assistance directly or through the acts of its Administrator, who was Walmart's agent. From approximately August 2022

through approximately August 2023, Walmart provided this substantial assistance directly.

186. As a result, Defendants engaged in abusive acts or practices, in
violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), (d)(2)(B),
5536(a)(1)(B), (a)(3).

### COUNT III: UNFAIR ACTS OR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE <u>CFPA</u>

(Against Defendants)

# Defendants employed unfair account opening and funding practices in connection with requiring Spark Drivers to be paid through Branch Accounts.

187. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

188. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if "(A) the act or practice causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1).

189. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2023, Defendants engaged in unfair acts or practices. Branch offered Branch Accounts with harmful features, and Defendants required Spark Drivers to use the Accounts in order to receive their pay. Defendants opened and either accepted deposits (Branch), or made deposits (Walmart), into those accounts without Spark Drivers' informed consent or on an unauthorized basis, and before Spark Drivers could agree to the terms and conditions and access the account, thereby coercing Drivers into accepting the product.

190. Defendant's acts or practices caused substantial injury to consumers. Spark Drivers had no choice but to accept a product that included fees, limitations on use, delays in earnings access, and risk of loss of funds when using their Branch Accounts. And if Spark Drivers did not use the Branch Account, they risked the loss of already-earned wages along with future earnings with the Spark Driver program.

191. Spark Drivers could not reasonably avoid these harms because they could not prevent Defendants from using their personal information to create Branch Accounts for them without their authorization or without their informed consent, or accepting deposits into those accounts to which they did not have access. And each option Branch offered consumers to either use or transfer funds came with harms, meaning a Spark Driver could not avoid all of the harms while they were required to receive earnings in the Branch Account.

192. This substantial injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

193. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2022,Walmart engaged in these practices directly or through the acts of its

Administrator, who was Walmart's agent. From approximately August 2022 through August 2023, Walmart directly engaged in this conduct.

194. Walmart also substantially assisted in Branch's unfair acts and practices because it knew about, or recklessly disregarded, that conduct and substantially assisted in it.

195. From approximately June 2021 through approximately August 2022, Walmart provided this substantial assistance directly, or through the acts of its Administrator, who was Walmart's agent. From approximately August 2022 through August 2023, Walmart provided this substantial assistance directly.

196. As a result, Defendants engaged in unfair acts or practices, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), (c), 5536(a)(1)(B), (a)(3).

### <u>COUNT IV: DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF</u> <u>THE CFPA</u>

#### (Against Defendants)

# Defendants made deceptive statements about "instant access" and "same-day" payments.

197. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

198. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if (1) there is a representation, omission, or practice that (2) is likely to mislead consumers acting

reasonably under the circumstances and (3) the representation, omission, or practice is material.

199. Defendants communicated to Spark Drivers that adoption of Branch Accounts would allow Spark Drivers to be paid daily, something many drivers had expressed they wanted.

200. Branch and Walmart each directly made representations to Spark Drivers that adopting Branch Accounts would give them "instant access" to their pay or "same-day" or "daily" pay.

201. Spark Drivers have never received instant or same-day pay through the Branch Account.

202. Defendants' representations were material and likely to mislead Spark Drivers acting reasonably.

203. As a result, Defendants engaged in deceptive acts or practices, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).

#### **COUNT V: VIOLATION OF TISA AND REGULATION DD**

#### (Against Branch)

#### Branch's advertisements as to Branch Accounts were inaccurate or misleading.

204. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

205. TISA and Regulation DD prohibit an advertisement from being misleading or inaccurate, or from misrepresenting a depository institution's deposit contract. 12 U.S.C. § 4302(e); 12 C.F.R. § 1030.8(a)(1).

206. Branch advertised to Spark Drivers that its Branch accounts provided instant access to wages and same-day pay when this capability was not available to Spark Drivers.

207. Branch advertised that its Branch Accounts allowed consumers to make transfers for free to any bank account and to initiate stop payment when Branch Accounts did not provide these services.

208. Branch's representations were inaccurate or misleading.

209. As a result, Branch violated section 263 of TISA, 12 U.S.C.

§ 4302(e), and section 1030.8 of Regulation DD, 12 C.F.R.§ 1030.8(a)(1).

#### **COUNT VI: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA**

#### (Against Branch)

# Branch included an impermissible waiver of EFTA rights in its accountholder agreements.

210. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

211. Under EFTA, "No writing or other agreement between a consumer and any other person may contain any provision which constitutes a waiver of any right conferred or cause of action created by" EFTA. 15 U.S.C. § 1693*l*.

212. Since it began offering its Branch "business"-labeled accounts in or around January 2021, Branch has included language in the terms and conditions stating that accountholders are not entitled to the protections of EFTA and other federal consumer financial laws.

213. Accountholders of Branch "business"-labeled accounts are consumers under EFTA and the accounts are "accounts" within the meaning of Regulation E.

214. As a result, Branch violated section 914 of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 16931.

#### **COUNT VII: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

### Branch failed to promptly initiate Error investigations and conduct reasonable Error investigations.

215. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

216. Regulation E provides that "A financial institution shall comply with the requirements [to investigate, report on, and correct errors] with respect to any oral or written notice of error from the consumer that: (i) Is received by the institution no later than 60 days after the institution sends the periodic statement or provides the passbook documentation, required by § 1005.9, on which the alleged error is first reflected; (ii) Enables the institution to identify the consumer's name and account number; and (iii) Indicates why the consumer believes an error exists and includes to the extent possible the type, date, and amount of the error. . . ." 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(b)(1) (Notice of Error).

217. EFTA requires a financial institution to, upon receiving a Notice of Error, "investigate [an] alleged error, determine whether an error has occurred, and report or mail the results of such investigation and determination to the consumer within ten business days" of receiving a Notice of Error. 15 U.S.C. § 1693f(a).

218. Section 1005.11 of Regulation E requires that a financial institution must begin its investigation promptly upon receipt of a Notice of Error and may not delay initiating or completing an investigation pending receipt of information from the consumer. *See* 12 C.F.R. pt. 1005, Supp. I cmt. 1005.11(b)(1)-2, 11(c)-2.

219. When conducting an Error resolution investigation under EFTA and Regulation E, a financial institution must "determine whether an error has occurred," 15 U.S.C. § 1693f. This investigation "must be reasonable," 71 Fed. Reg. 1638, 1654 (Jan. 10, 2006).

220. Branch failed to promptly initiate or conduct Error investigations in numerous ways, depending on the type of transaction at issue.

221. For consumers' Notices of Error regarding ACH Transactions:

a. From approximately January 2020 through approximately April 2022,
 Branch failed to initiate or conduct an Error investigation into any
 Notice of Error; and

 b. From approximately April 2022 through the present, Branch has not initiated an Error investigation concerning ACH transactions until a consumer submits a written statement of unauthorized electronic fund transfer.

222. For Notices of Error concerning debit card transactions, from approximately January 2020 through the present, Branch has not conducted reasonable Error investigations, but instead sends all Notices of Error to its Chargeback Processor to process a chargeback. If chargeback was not successful, Branch automatically determined that no Error occurred, without performing any investigation.

223. For any Notice of Error alleging fraud in connection with an unauthorized transfer, since January 2020 Branch has not performed an investigation and automatically denies the Notice of Error if the merchant provided documentation matching the accountholder's name and address.

224. As a result, Branch violated section 1693f of EFTA and section 1005.11 of Regulation E. 15 U.S.C. § 1693f(a)-(f); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(a)-(e).

#### **COUNT VIII: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to timely provide provisional credit and resolve Errors.

225. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

226. Under Regulation E, if a financial institution cannot complete an investigation of a Notice of Error within 10 business days, it may take up to 45 business days and 90 business days under certain circumstances. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(c)(1)-(3).

227. If the financial institution needs this additional time, it generally must provide consumers with provisional credit. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(c)(2).

228. The financial institution is required to report the results of the investigation to the consumer within 3 days of completing its investigation. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(c)(1), (c)(2)(iv).

229. For numerous Errors that Branch did not resolve within 10 business days of receipt of the Notice of Error, Branch failed to provide provisional credit within those 10 days.

230. For numerous Notices of Error, Branch failed to determine whether an Error occurred within 90 business days of receipt.

231. For numerous Notices of Error, Branch failed to report the results of its investigation to the consumer within 3 business days of determining whether an Error occurred.

232. As a result, Branch violated section 1005.11 of Regulation E. 12C.F.R. § 1005.11(c).

#### **COUNT IX: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

(Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to stop payment of preauthorized electronic fund transfers.

233. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

234. EFTA and Regulation E give consumers the right to notify a financial institution to stop payment of a preauthorized electronic fund transfer. 15 U.S.C.§ 1693e(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(c)(1).

235. As a matter of policy and in practice, Branch did not honor consumers' stop payment requests.

236. Consumers notified Branch that they wanted to stop payment of a preauthorized electronic fund transfer at least 3 business days before the scheduled date of the transfer, but Branch did not effectuate the stop payment.

237. As a result, Branch violated section 907 of EFTA and section 1005.10 of Regulation E. 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(c)(1).

#### **COUNT X: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to provide accountholders initial disclosures at the proper time.

238. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

239. EFTA and Regulation E require that at the time a consumer contracts for an electronic fund transfer service, or before the first electronic fund transfer is made involving the consumer's account, a financial institution shall make certain required initial disclosures. 15 U.S.C. § 1693c(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.7(a).

240. Since 2020, Branch opened accounts capable of receiving deposits, and often accepted deposits into those accounts, before providing the consumer with terms and conditions—or initial disclosures—for the account.

241. Accordingly, Branch failed to provide consumers with initial disclosures at the time they contract for an electronic fund transfer service or before the first electronic fund transfer is made involving their account.

242. As a result, Branch violated section 905 of EFTA and section 1005.7 of Regulation E. 15 U.S.C. § 1693c(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.7(a).

#### **COUNT XI: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

# Branch failed to provide accountholders initial disclosures with the requisite information.

243. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

244. EFTA and Regulation E require that a financial institution must provide certain initial disclosures, including, among other things, a statement of the consumer's liability for unauthorized electronic fund transfers under section 1005.6 of Regulation E, and also a summary of the consumer's right to stop payment of preauthorized electronic fund transfers and the procedure for placing a stop payment order. 15 U.S.C. § 1693c(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.7(b).

245. Since 2020, initial disclosures for Branch Accounts have lacked accurate information concerning a consumer's liability for unauthorized transactions.

246. Since 2021, Branch failed to include the consumer's stop payment rights in many initial disclosures.

247. As a result, Branch violated section 905 of EFTA and section 1005.7 of Regulation E. 15 U.S.C. § 1693c(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.7(b).

#### **COUNT XII: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to provide periodic statements with the requisite information.

248. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

249. EFTA and Regulation E require financial institutions to provide consumers with a periodic statement for each account to or from which electronic fund transfers can be made which includes: (1) with regard to each electronic fund transfer during the period, certain information about each transfer, including, among other things, the type of transfer and type of account to or from which funds were transferred and, for transfers initiated at an electronic terminal, the terminal location; (2) the amount of any fee or charge assessed by the financial institution during the period for electronic fund transfers or for account maintenance; (3) the balances in the consumer's account at the beginning of the period and at the close of the period; and (4) the address and telephone number to be used for inquiries or notices of errors. 15 U.S.C. § 1693d(a), (c); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.9(b).

250. Since 2020, Branch has failed to provide periodic statements with details and correct information about transactions, fees, and how to submit a suspected Error.

251. As a result, Branch violated section 906 of EFTA and section 1005.9 of Regulation E. 15 U.S.C. § 1693d(a), (c); 12 C.F.R. § 1005.9(b).

### COUNT XIII: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E (Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to provide Error resolution notices with the requisite information.

252. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

253. Regulation E requires financial institutions to provide to consumers with accounts to or from which electronic fund transfers can be made, on a yearly basis or with each periodic statement, an error resolution notice substantially similar to Model Form A-3. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.8(b); Appendix A-3 Model Forms for Error Resolution Notice.

254. Since January 2020, Branch's Error resolution notices have failed to conform to Model Form A-3. In particular, they fail to inform consumers of the types of Errors they can allege and do not contain information directing consumers to contact the financial institution if they think their statement was incorrect, or if they need more information about a transfer listed on a statement or receipt.

255. As a result, Branch violated section 1005.8 of Regulation E. 12 C.F.R.§ 1005.8(b).

#### **COUNT XIV: VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E**

#### (Against Branch)

#### Branch failed to maintain records of compliance with EFTA.

256. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

257. Regulation E requires Branch to "retain evidence of compliance with the requirements imposed by" EFTA and Regulation E. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.13(b)(1).

258. Since January 2020, Branch has not (1) retained complete and accurate information about Notices of Error and evidence of its compliance with EFTA and Regulation E with respect to Notices of Error; (2) maintained policies and procedures to honor stop payment requests; or (3) retained evidence of all instances when consumers requested stop payments.

259. From January 2020 through approximately April 2022, Branch failed to maintain policies and procedures regarding the handling and investigation of Notices of Error.

260. As a result, Branch violated section 1005.13 of Regulation E. 12C.F.R. § 1005.13(b)(1).

#### <u>COUNT XV: VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA BY VIOLATING TISA AND</u> <u>REGULATION DD, AND EFTA AND REGULATION E</u>

#### (Against Branch)

261. The Bureau incorporates and re-alleges by reference Paragraphs 1 through 165.

262. The CFPA defines "Federal consumer financial law" to include TISA and its implementing Regulation DD, and EFTA and its implementing Regulation E. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12), (14).

263. Under the CFPA, covered persons' violations of Federal consumer financial law are violations of section 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C.

§ 5536(a)(1)(A).

264. As a result, Branch's violations of TISA and Regulation DD, and EFTA and Regulation E, as described in Counts V–XIV, constitute violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).

#### **DEMAND FOR RELIEF**

265. The Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565:

 Permanently enjoin the Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA, EFTA and Regulation E, and TISA and Regulation DD in connection with the offering and provision of consumer financial products to consumers;

- b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper;
- c. Award monetary relief, including but not limited to the refund of monies paid; restitution; disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment; and the payment of damages;
- d. Award the Bureau civil money penalties;
- e. Award the Bureau the costs of bringing this action; and
- f. Award such other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Dated: December 23, 2024

Respectfully Submitted,

Eric Halperin Enforcement Director

Deborah Morris Deputy Enforcement Director

Rebeccah Bower Assistant Litigation Deputy

<u>s/ Rebeccah G. Watson</u>
By: REBECCAH G. WATSON
(D.C. Bar No. 989313)
(Motion for admission *pro hac vice* pending)
Email: rebeccah.watson@cfpb.gov
Tel.: (202) 435-7895

NICOLE A. MAURI (Cal. Bar No. 330692) (Motion for admission *pro hac vice* pending) Email: nicole.mauri@cfpb.gov Tel.: (202) 435-9799

1700 G Street, NW Washington, DC 20552

Attorneys for Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

#### CASE 0:24-cv-04610 Doc 1-1 Filed 12/23/24 Page 1 of 2 CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS				DEFENDANT Branch Messeng	S				
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau				Branch Messenger, Inc. Walmart Inc.					
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)				County of Residence of First Listed Defendant <u>Hennepin County</u> (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.					
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Rebeccah G. Watson & Nicole A. Mauri Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 1700 G Street NW, Washington, DC 20552 (202-435-7895)				Attorneys (If Know)	m)				
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in O	me Box Only)	III. CI	TIZENSHIP OF	PRINCIPA	AL PARTIES	Place an "X" in	One Box j	for Plaintiff
I U.S. Government Plaintiff	<ul> <li>Geteral Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)</li> </ul>								ant) DEF 04
2 U.S. Government Defendant	□ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)			en of Another State		of Business In A		<b>5</b>	<b>5</b>
				Citizen or Subject of a 🛛 3 🗇 3 Foreign Nation 🗍 6 🗍 6 Foreign Country					
IV. NATURE OF SUIT	TURE OF SUIT (Place an "X" in One Box Only) CONTRACT TORTS					t here for: <u>Nature c</u> NKRUPTCY	f Suit Code Descriptions. OTHER STATUTES		
<ul> <li>CONTRACT</li> <li>110 Insurance</li> <li>120 Marine</li> <li>130 Miller Act</li> <li>140 Negotiable Instrument</li> <li>150 Recovery of Overpayment &amp; Enforcement of Judgment</li> <li>151 Medicare Act</li> <li>152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans)</li> <li>153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits</li> <li>160 Stockholders' Suits</li> <li>190 Other Contract</li> <li>195 Contract Product Liability</li> <li>196 Franchise</li> <li>REAL PROPERTY</li> <li>210 Land Condemnation</li> <li>220 Foreclosure</li> <li>230 Rent Lease &amp; Ejectment</li> <li>240 Torts to Land</li> <li>245 Tort Product Liability</li> <li>290 All Other Real Property</li> </ul>	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 360 Other Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights 441 Voting 442 Employment 443 Housing/ Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other 448 Education	PERSONAL INJUR 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability 367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability PERSONAL PROPER 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 380 Other Personal Property Damage Property Damage Product Liability PRISONER PETITION Habeas Corpus: 463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence	<b>Y</b> 0 62 0 69 <b>XTY</b> 0 71 0 72 0 72 0 79 0 79	DRFEITURE/PENALTY 5 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 88: 0 Other 1 Gain Labor Standards Act 1 Labor Standards Act 1 Labor/Management Relations 0 Railway Labor Act 1 Family and Medical Leave Act 10 Other Labor Litigation 1 Employee Retirement Income Security Act 1 IMMIGRATION 2 Naturalization Applicati 5 Other Immigration Actions	□       422 App         1       1         423 With       28 U         □       820 Cop         □       830 Pate         □       830 Pate         □       840 Trad         SOCIAL       861 HIA         □       861 Blac         □       864 SSII         □       865 RSI         FEDER       870 Taxe         □       871 IRS         26 U       26 U	eal 28 USC 158 drawal JSC 157 <b>RTY RIGHTS</b> wrights nt nt - Abbreviated Drug Application lemark <u>SECURITY</u> (1395ff) k Lung (923) C/DIWW (405(g)) D Title XVI	<ul> <li>□ 375 False C</li> <li>□ 376 Qui Tan 3729(a)</li> <li>□ 400 State Rd</li> <li>□ 410 Antitrus</li> <li>□ 430 Banks a</li> <li>□ 450 Comme</li> <li>□ 460 Deporta</li> <li>□ 470 Rackete Corrupt</li> <li>□ 480 Consum (15 US)</li> <li>□ 485 Telepho Protecti</li> <li>□ 490 Cable/S</li> <li>□ 850 Securiti</li> <li>□ 891 Agricult</li> <li>□ 895 Freedon Act</li> <li>□ 899 Adminini Act/Rev</li> </ul>	laims Act n (31 USC )) apportions apportions at nd Bankin ree ttion Organizat eer Credit C 1681 or one Consur ion Act at TV es/Commo ge atutory Ac tural Acts mental Ma n of Inform ion strative Pre- riew or Ap Decision ationality of	ment ng ced and ions 1692) mer odities/ stions atters nation ocedure ppeal of
	••	Remanded from Appellate Court	⊐ 4 Rein Reop		sferred from ther District	☐ 6 Multidistr Litigation Transfer	-	Multidis Litigatic Direct Fi	on -
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	DN Brief description of ca Abusive, unfair, and de	eceptive acts or practices;	Violations	Do not cite jurisdictional s A); 12 C.F.R. pt. 1005 (	statutes unless d (Reg. E); 12 U.				
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	UNDER RULE 2	IS A CLASS ACTION 3, F.R.Cv.P.	N D	EMAND \$		CHECK YES only URY DEMAND:		n complai XNo	
VIII. RELATED CASH IF ANY	C(S) (See instructions): JUDGE			DOCKET NUMBER					
DATE 12/23/2024	SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD Micrele Marii								
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY RECEIPT # AN	10UNT	APPL YING IFP		JUDGE		MAG. JUD	GE		

#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44**

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- **I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.** Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
- (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
- (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".

**II. Jurisdiction.** The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; **NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.**)

- **III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties.** This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- **IV.** Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
- **V. Origin.** Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. **PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.** Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statue.

- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service
- VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.